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United States Courts
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT snllthem 'D:lslt-lg([:)t of Texas

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON TEXAS MAR 1 g 2009

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA Bisheol N. Milby, Clerk of Court

V. CRIMINAL NO. .

ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS
BRANDON ALONZO CRENSHAW H- 08- 640
NEHEMIAH JAMAL DOUGLAS

DAVID VASSER

SHIRLEY ADGER

LR LN L LR LD L LN LN U

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

COUNT ONE
(Conspiracy - Title 18, U.S.C. §1349)

At all times material to this Indictment:
A. Defendants

1. ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS, BRANDON ALONZO CRENSHAW,
NEHEMIAH JAMAL DOUGLAS, and SHIRLEY ADGER each worked at MOTOWN
MORTGAGE GROUP in various capacities. In the later half of 2004, they began
working together at a separate location under the business names TEAM WORK
REALTY and CENTRAL CAPITAL FINANCIAL GROUP.

2. ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS worked at MOTOWN MORTGAGE
GROUP and LEWIS & ASSOCIATES REALTORS which were co-located in Houston,

Texas. Ultimately, ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS became the office manager for
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MOTOWN MORTGAGE GROUP and LEWIS & ASSOCIATES REALTORS until he
departed in late 2004 to begin his own mortgage brokerage business, CENTRAL
CAPITAL FINANCIAL GROUP, and realty company, TEAM WORK REALTY.

3. BRANDON ALONZO CRENSHAW worked at MOTOWN MORTGAGE
GROUP as a recruiter and as a loan officer. In late 2004, CRENSHAW began working at
CENTRAL CAPITAL FINANCIAL GROUP in similar capacities. In addition, while
working at CENTRAL CAPITAL FINANCIAL GROUP, CRENSHAW also purchased
homes under false and fraudulent pretenses.

4. NEHEMIAH JAMAL DOUGLAS was a purchaser of five residential
properties through MOTOWN MORTGAGE GROUP utilizing false and fraudulent
pretenses. DOUGLAS was employed as a loan officer at MOTOWN MORTGAGE
GROUP prior to joining CENTRAL CAPITAL FINANCIAL GROUP.

5. SHIRLEY ADGER worked as a loan processor at MOTOWN
MORTGAGE GROUP and subsequently at CENTRAL CAPITAL FIﬁANCIAL GROUP
where she assisted in compiling and forwarding falsified documents to various lenders in
support of applications for mortgage loans.

6. DAVID VASSER operated Rising Star Enterprises, a trucking business
with contract drivers. VASSER falsely verified to various lenders that the Borrower was
employed with Rising Star Enterprises when residential lenders checked to see if the

Borrower was employed as reported in the Fannie Mae Form 1003, also known as a
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Uniform Residential Loan Application. VASSER performed this function both for
MOTOWN MORTGAGE GROUP and CENTRAL CAPITAL FINANCIAL GROUP.
B. Residential Real Estate Closings

7. The Transaction that is the subject of a residential real estate closing
(“Closing”) involves the purchase and sale of real property between two parties, the
“Buyer” and the “Seller”. The Buyer is an individual or entity who, in a “Cash
Transaction,” provides his own funds to pay 100% of the sales price, or, in a “Loan
Transaction,” obtains the funding from a lending institution (the “Lender”), to purchase
the real estate, which has approved the Buyer/Borrower (hereinafter “Borrower”) for a
residential mortgage loan for up to 100% of the sales price. The Seller is an individual or
entity who owns the property that is the subject of the transaction.

8. The documents used to apply for a real estate mortgage loan are collected
by loan officers and loan processors at the mortgage broker’s office and transmitted to the
Lender by United States mail and/or by commercial interstate carrier such as Federal
Express and Airborne Express. These documents include, but are not limited to:

The Uniform Residential Loan Application
. Borrower’s credit report

Verification of Employment

Verification of Rent or Mortgage

Lease agreements
Verification of Deposit

o Ao o

0. The closing of the real estate transaction is conducted by a Title Company

Escrow Agent or Closing Agent. The Title Company transmits documents prepared for
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the property closing to the Lender by facsimile as well as by United States mail and/or by
commercial interstate carrier such as Federal Express and Airborne Express. The Lender
funds the residential loans through a wire transfer from the Lender’s bank to the Title
company’s bank account. After the loans are funded, the Title Company disburses the
loan proceeds.

C. The Conspiracy

10. From in or about December 2002 and continuing through, on or about June 1,
2007 in the Southern District of Texas, and elsewhere, the defendants,
ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS,
BRANDON ALONZO CRENSHAW,
NEHEMIAH JAMAL DOUGLAS,
DAVID VASSER, and
SHIRLEY ADGER
did knowingly conspire and agree with at least one other person to commit the following
offenses against the United States:
a. To knowingly devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to
defraud, and for obtaining money and property by means of false and
fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, and to knowingly use
and cause to be used the United States mails and private and commercial
interstate carriers for the purpose of executing the scheme and artifice to

defraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341;

b. To knowingly devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to
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defraud, and for obtaining money and property by means of false and
fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, and to knowingly use
and cause to be used interstate wire communications facilities in carrying
out the scheme to defraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1343;

D. Manner and Means of the Scheme

It was a part of the conspiracy that:

11. ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS and his coconspirators and agents would
and did locate real estate (the “Properties”) in the Houston, Texas area.

12. ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS, BRANDON ALONZO CRENSHAW,
NEHEMIAH JAMAL DOUGLAS and their coconspirators and agents would and did
recruit, solicit, compensate and cause to be compensated individuals with good credit to
act as “Borrowers” in applications for residential mortgage loans to purchase one or more
of the Properties.

13. ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS, BRANDON ALONZO CRENSHAW,
NEHEMIAH JAMAL DOUGLAS, DAVID VASSER, SHIRLEY ADGER and their
coconspirators and agents knew and intended that each Borrower would and did use and
allow his or her name and other personal and financial information to be used and
submitted to a “Lender” for the purpose of pretending and falsely representing that the

Borrower was able to meet the financial obligations of the loan and had the incentive to
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do so.

14. ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS, BRANDON ALONZO CRENSHAW,
NEHEMIAH JAMAL DOUGLAS, SHIRLEY ADGER and their coconspirators and
agents would and did cause to be completed Uniform Residential Loan Applications in
the names of the Borrowers in an attempt to obtain financing of the Property’s sales price
which applications included false representations including the Borrower’s plan to occupy
the Property as their primary residence, a pretense and false representation that the
coconspirators knew was material to the Lenders’ decisions to grant and fund the loans.

15. ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS, BRANDON ALONZO CRENSHAW,
NEHEMIAH JAMAL DOUGLAS, SHIRLEY ADGER and their coconspirators and
agents would and did prepare, authorize, disseminate, transmit and cause to be prepared,
authorized, disseminated and transmitted through the United State:s mail and commercial
interstate carriers and through interstate wire communications, to individuals and entities,
including Lenders and their agents, false and fraudulent statements and other information,
including but not limited to the ability and incentive of each Borrower to repay the loan,
which the Defendants and their coconspirators knew and had reason to believe would be
material to the Lender’s decision to fund the mortgage loan and under what conditions.

16. ANTHONY WAYNE HAWKINS would and did arrange for various
individuals associated with business entities to falsely verify to Lenders that the Borrower

was a tenant in good standing or employed with the business in the capacity falsely
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